2002s-43

Monotonicity and Bounds for Cost Shares under the Path Serial Rule

Michel Truchon, Cyril Téjédo

Série Scientifique Scientific Series



Montréal Mai 2002

CIRANO

Le CIRANO est un organisme sans but lucratif constitué en vertu de la Loi des compagnies du Québec. Le financement de son infrastructure et de ses activités de recherche provient des cotisations de ses organisationsmembres, d'une subvention d'infrastructure du ministère de la Recherche, de la Science et de la Technologie, de même que des subventions et mandats obtenus par ses équipes de recherche.

CIRANO is a private non-profit organization incorporated under the Québec Companies Act. Its infrastructure and research activities are funded through fees paid by member organizations, an infrastructure grant from the Ministère de la Recherche, de la Science et de la Technologie, and grants and research mandates obtained by its research teams.

Les organisations-partenaires / The Partner Organizations

- •École des Hautes Études Commerciales
- •École Polytechnique de Montréal
- •Université Concordia
- •Université de Montréal
- •Université du Québec à Montréal
- Université Laval
- Université McGill
- •Ministère des Finances du Québec
- •MRST
- •Alcan inc.
- •AXA Canada
- •Banque du Canada
- •Banque Laurentienne du Canada
- •Banque Nationale du Canada
- •Banque Royale du Canada
- •Bell Canada
- •Bombardier
- •Bourse de Montréal
- •Développement des ressources humaines Canada (DRHC)
- •Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec
- •Hydro-Québec
- •Industrie Canada
- •Pratt & Whitney Canada Inc.
- •Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton
- •Ville de Montréal

© 2002 Michel Truchon et Cyril Téjédo . Tous droits réservés. All rights reserved. Reproduction partielle permise avec citation du document source, incluant la notice ©.

Short sections may be quoted without explicit permission, if full credit, including © notice, is given to the source.

Les cahiers de la série scientifique (CS) visent à rendre accessibles des résultats de recherche effectuée au CIRANO afin de susciter échanges et commentaires. Ces cahiers sont écrits dans le style des publications scientifiques. Les idées et les opinions émises sont sous l'unique responsabilité des auteurs et ne représentent pas nécessairement les positions du CIRANO ou de ses partenaires.

This paper presents research carried out at CIRANO and aims at encouraging discussion and comment. The observations and viewpoints expressed are the sole responsibility of the authors. They do not necessarily represent positions of CIRANO or its partners.

Monotonicity and Bounds for Cost Shares under the Path Serial Rule^{*}

Michel Truchon[†] and Cyril Téjédo[‡]

Résumé / Abstract

On poursuit l'analyse de la règle séquentielle avec sentiers (*Path Serial Rule*) pour le partage des coûts. On étudie la variation de la part du coût d'un agent par rapport à sa demande et celles des autres agents. On montre également que, avec une hypothèse appropriée sur la fonction de coût, les contributions exigées des agents avec cette règle se situent à l'intérieur de bornes raisonnables.

We pursue the analysis of the Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule by examining how the cost share of an agent varies with respect to its own demand and the one of other agents. We also provide bounds for cost shares under an appropriate assumption on the cost function.

Mots-clés : Règle séquentielle pour le partage des coûts, multi-produits, monotonicité, bornes

Keywords: Serial cost sharing, multi products, monotonicity, bounds

JEL : D63, C71

^{*} We thank Patrick González, Philippe Mahenc, Michel Moreaux, François Salanié, Yves Sprumont, and Yuntong Wang for their helpful comments. We also thank the Institut d'économie industrielle de l'Université des Sciences Sociales de Toulouse for its hospitality during the Fall 1999.

[†] CIRANO, CRÉFA and Département d'économique, Université Laval, Québec, Canada, G1K 7P4, email: mtru@ecn.ulaval.ca

[‡] CIRANO and CEREF, Département d'économique, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, Qc, Canada, J1K 2R1, email: cyril.tejedo@courrier.usherb.ca

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The Cost Sharing Problem 2.1 The demands	2 2
	2.2 The cost function	2
	2.3 The paths	5
3	The Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule	6
4	Monotonicity	7
5	Bounds for Cost Shares	8
6	Conclusion	11
7	Proofs	12
	7.1 Proof of Lemma 1	12
	7.2 Proof of Theorem 1	12
	7.3 Proof of Corollary 1	14
	7.4 Proof of Theorem 2 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	14
	7.5 Proof of Theorem $3 \ldots $	15

1 Introduction

The Serial Cost Sharing Rule has received much attention since its introduction by Shenker (1990) and its extensive analysis by Moulin and Shenker (1992, 1994). It was originally conceived for problems where n agents request different quantities of a private good, the sum of which is produced by a single facility. This rule can be constructed from two ethical axioms: Equal Treatment of Equals (in terms of demands) and Independence of Larger Demands (a protection of small demanders against larger ones). It satisfies other interesting properties and has other characterizations as well.

In Téjédo and Truchon (2002), we introduced the Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule to deal with situations where each agent requests a list of goods that may be private, public, or specific to some agents and where aggregate demand is not necessarily the sum of individual demands. This rule admits general paths along which demands may be scaled down to construct intermediate demands. We showed that the Path Serial Rule is characterized by the Equal Treatment of Equivalent Demands (in terms of stand alone costs) and the Path Serial Principle (a weaker form of Independence of Larger Demands). It also satisfies a general scale invariance condition defined and called Ordinality by Sprumont (1998).

In the present paper, we pursue the analysis of this rule by examining how the cost share of an agent varies with respect to its own demand and the one of other agents. We also provide bounds for cost shares under an appropriate assumption on the cost function. Moulin and Shenker (1994) prove that, under appropriate assumptions on the cost function, the original Serial Rule produces cost shares that are monotone with respect to own and others' demands and that lay between reasonable bounds. We transpose their results to the Path Serial Rule by restricting Monotonicity and Cross Monotonicity to hold along paths. Moulin (1996) shows that the original Serial Rule satisfies the Stand Alone Test, i.e. under increasing returns, no agent and no subset of agents pay more than their stand alone cost. We also extend this result to the Path Serial Rule.

The paper is organized as follows. For the sake of completeness, we give again the complete formulation of the problem and the main definitions in Section 2. In particular, we add a definition of "diminishing and increasing incremental cost", which will be used to define Path Cross Monotonicity and the Stand Alone Test. The Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule is defined in Section 3. Monotonicity is the object of Section 4 while the bounds for cost shares are dealt with in Section 5. A brief conclusion follows as Section 6. Most proofs are collected in the last section.

2 The Cost Sharing Problem

A cost sharing problem starts with a profile of demands, to which a cost function is applied. In some cases, as with serial cost sharing, demands may have to be scaled down to meet certain conditions. The cost sharing problem must thus be completed by a description of how this should be made. We address each of these elements in the next three subsections.

2.1 The demands

Throughout this paper, there is a fixed set of divisible *commodities* $K = \{1, \ldots, k\}$ and a fixed set of *agents* $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The commodities may be goods, characteristics serving to describe needs, or specifications of a certain facility. A commodity may be specific to a particular agent or a subset of agents. This means that these agents are the only ones to be able to consume, use, or enjoy the commodity in question. Hence, they will be the only ones to demand positive quantities of this commodity. As for non specific commodities, they may be private or public or anything in between.

For each agent $i \in N$, let there be a positive integer $m_i \leq k$ and a one-to-one function $\ell_i : \{1, \ldots, m_i\} \to K$, specifying the list of commodities that may be requested by this agent. Next, let M_i be the range of ℓ_i , i.e. $M_i = \{\ell_i(1), \ldots, \ell_i(m_i)\}$. In plain words, M_i is the subset of commodities for which agent i may request a positive quantity. We assume that $K = \bigcup_{i=1}^n M_i$. Thus, for each commodity, there is at least one agent concerned by this commodity.

The demand of agent *i* is described by a vector $q_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$. The scalar q_{ih} is the demand of commodity $\ell_i(h) \in M_i$ by agent *i*. Let $M = \{M_1, \ldots, M_n\}$ with cardinality $m = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i \leq nk$. A profile of demands is an element $Q \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$. Given a subset $S \subset N$ and $Q \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$, let $Q^S \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ be the vector obtained from Q by changing all components $q_i, j \in N \setminus S$, for components of 0.

2.2 The cost function

To complete the description of the problem, we assume that the agents jointly own a facility to jointly produce any list of commodities that are requested. The cost of producing a bundle $Y \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ is C(Y). A special case is $M_i = K \forall i$ and $C(Y) = c(\sum_i y_i)$ with $c : \mathbb{R}^k_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$. In this case, all commodities are homogeneous and private. Following Moulin and Shenker (1994) and Sprumont (1998), we call these functions and the resulting problems *homogeneous*. A cost function $C : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ also induces *n* stand alone cost functions $c_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by:

$$c_i(y_i) = C\left(Y^{\{i\}}\right) \ \forall i \in N$$

We shall say that $c_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is increasing if $y_i \ll y'_i$ implies $c_i(y_i) < c_i(y'_i)$. Thus, c_i is increasing if an increase in all components of y_i yields a cost increase.

Let $\mathbb{C}(m)$ be the class of continuous and non-decreasing functions $C: \mathbb{R}^m_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ satisfying:

- C(0) = 0,
- the functions c_i , i = 1, ..., n, induced by C are increasing,
- $\forall Y \in \mathbb{R}^m_+, \ \forall i \in N : c_i(y_i) = 0 \Rightarrow C(Y) = C(Y^{N \setminus \{i\}}),$
- $\forall i \in N, \forall Y \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ : C(Y^{N \setminus \{i\}}) = C_{-i}(Y_{-i})$, where C_{-i} is the restriction of C to the reduced profile $Y_{-i} = (y_1, \ldots, y_{i-1}, y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_n)$

We shall work with this class of functions throughout the paper. Whereas we need the mild assumption that each c_i be increasing, we do not want to impose and we do not need that C be increasing. In other words, $Y \leq Y' \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ and $y_i \ll y'_i$ for some i do not necessarily imply C(Y) < C(Y'). Indeed, C may be the result of a more or less complex aggregation and optimization procedure. Thus, it is not necessarily increasing in all its components as, for example, when some public goods are involved. The last two conditions defining $\mathbb{C}(m)$ are natural. A demand from an agent with null stand alone cost has the same impact on total cost than a null demand and removing an agent with a null demand from a problem should have no impact on total cost.

In certain circumstances, the shape of the cost function may be of some importance. In particular, the behavior of the incremental cost, i.e. the change in cost following an increase in the level of production, may matter. These incremental costs may increase or diminish with the level of production. We now give a formal content to these concepts. In the following definition, we treat two increments in two different components of Y as equivalent if their impacts on their respective stand alone costs are the same. In the case of a single private good, this would imply identical increments. **Definition 1** A cost function $C \in \mathbb{C}(m)$ satisfies Diminishing Incremental Cost (DIC) if for any triple $(Y, Y', Z) \in \mathbb{R}^{3m}_+$ such that $Y \leq Y'$ and any pair $(i, j) \in N^2$ such that $c_i(y_i) \geq c_j(y_j)$ and $c_i(y_i + z_i) - c_i(y_i) = c_j(y_j + z_j) - c_j(y_j)$, the following holds:

$$C(Y + Z^{\{i\}}) - C(Y) \ge C(Y' + Z^{\{j\}}) - C(Y')$$
(1)

It satisfies Increasing Incremental Cost (IIC) if -C satisfies (DIC).

Remark 1 Why should we insist on (1) to declare C as being a (DIC) function? Note that the condition $c_i (y_i + z_i) - c_i (y_i) = c_j (y_j + z_j) - c_j (y_j)$ may be written as:

$$C\left(Y^{\{i\}} + Z^{\{i\}}\right) - C\left(Y^{\{i\}}\right) = C\left(Y^{\{j\}} + Z^{\{j\}}\right) - C\left(Y^{\{j\}}\right)$$
(2)

Adding $Y^{\{j\}}$ and $Y^{\{i\}}$ to the arguments of the left and right members respectively should bring a lower value for both. However, the condition $c_i(y_i) \ge c_j(y_j)$ means that y_i is in a sense "larger" than y_j . Thus $Y^{\{i\}}$ is "larger" than $Y^{\{j\}}$ and if (DIC) holds, we should expect the value of the right member of (2) to decrease more than the left one, i.e. $C\left(Y^{\{i,j\}} + Z^{\{i\}}\right) - C\left(Y^{\{i,j\}}\right) \ge C\left(Y^{\{i,j\}} + Z^{\{j\}}\right) - C\left(Y^{\{i,j\}}\right)$. From this inequality, we may say that $Z^{\{i\}}$ is "larger" than $Z^{\{j\}}$. Thus, we should have $C\left(Y + Z^{\{i\}}\right) - C\left(Y\right) \ge C\left(Y + Z^{\{j\}}\right) - C\left(Y\right)$. Finally, changing Y for Y' in the right member can just reinforce this inequality to meet the claim that C is a (DIC) function. This is precisely what (1) says.

Note that we may have i = j. Actually, for homogeneous C^2 functions, (DIC) is merely an implication of a property of concavity, namely the second order directional derivatives are non-positive. (DIC) has itself several implications, which are recorded in the following lemma.

Lemma 1 Let $C \in \mathbb{C}(m)$ satisfies (DIC), then:

1. For any triple $(Y, Y', Z) \in \mathbb{R}^{3m}_+$ such that $Y \leq Y'$, the following must hold:

$$C(Y+Z) - C(Y) \ge C(Y'+Z) - C(Y')$$
 (3)

2. For any $Z \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$, let $I(Z) = \{i \in N : z_i \neq 0\}$. Then, for any triple $(Y, Y', Z) \in \mathbb{R}^{3m}_+$ such that $Y \leq Y', Y + Z \leq Y' + Z^{\{h\}}$ for some $h \in I(Z)$, $c_i(y_i) \geq c_h(y_h)$ and $c_i(y_i + z_i) - c_i(y_i) = c_h(y_h + z_h) - c_h(y_h) \quad \forall i \in I(Z)$, the following must hold:

$$C(Y+Z) - C(Y) \ge \#I(Z) \left(C\left(Y' + Z^{\{h\}}\right) - C(Y') \right)$$
(4)

3. For any pair $(Y, Y') \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{R}^m_+$ such that $Y \leq Y'$ we have:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \left(y_i' \right) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \left(y_i \right) \ge C \left(Y' \right) - C \left(Y \right)$$
(5)

The above propositions hold with the reverse inequality if C satisfies (IIC).

The proof is given in subsection 7.1.

Remark 2 Condition (3) by itself could be viewed as a (DIC) condition. However, while (5) follows from (3), we need the stronger Definition 1 to get (4), which will be needed to prove path cross monotonicity. The definition is stronger in that it involves the variation in incremental costs with respect to different increments in the demand while (3) involves the same increment. Since condition (5) can be written as $\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i (y'_i) - C(Y') \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i (y_i) - C(Y)$, it may be called "increasing benefit from cooperation".

2.3 The paths

Serial cost sharing requires that larger demands be initially scaled down to a level equivalent to smaller ones. In some circumstances, it may be natural to adjust all components of the demand of an agent along the ray to which it belongs, i.e. proportionally. This is the method used in the Radial Serial Rule. In other circumstances, this may not be appropriate. As pointed out by Koster et al. (1998) in their Remark 3.7, one can envisage other extensions of the serial rule using more general paths to scale the demands. This is the idea behind the Path Serial Rule. This approach requires that we add the rules according to which demands must be scaled to Q and C in the definition of a cost sharing problem.

For each $i \in N$, consider functions $h_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$, which map each $y \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_+$ onto a vector $h_i(y,\tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$. Assume that $h_i(y,\cdot)$ is non-decreasing, increasing without bound in at least one component, and that for each $y \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$, there exists a $\tau' \in \mathbb{R}_+$ (necessarily unique) such that $h_i(y,\tau') = y$. Let \mathcal{H}_i be the class of these functions. Then, $h_i(y,\mathbb{R}_+)$ is the path through y defined by $h_i(y,\cdot)$. Clearly, the class $\{h_i(y,\mathbb{R}_+): y \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+\}$ scans $\mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$ since h_i is defined for each $y \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$. Finally, let $h_i^R : \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+ \setminus \{0\} \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}_+$ be defined by $h_i^R(y,\tau) = \tau y$. This function defines the ray through a $y \neq 0$.

We do not impose that $h_i(y,0) = 0$ and that $h_i(y, \cdot)$ be continuous and increasing in all components. However, given a function $C \in \mathbb{C}(m)$, we restrict ourselves to the class of functions $\mathcal{H}_i(c_i) \subset \mathcal{H}_i$ for which $c_i(h_i(y, \cdot))$ is continuous and increasing, with $c_i(h_i(y,0)) = 0$. Since $c_i(0) = 0$ and since c_i is increasing, this implies that there is at least one null component in $h_i(y, 0)$. In words, a path starts on an axis but not necessarily at the origin. The cost of the bundle at the starting point is null and increasing thereafter. This definition of $\mathcal{H}_i(c_i)$ insures that for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$, there is a unique τ_α such that $c_i(h_i(y, \tau_\alpha)) = \alpha$.

Let $\mathcal{H}(C) = \mathcal{H}_1(c_1) \times \cdots \times \mathcal{H}_n(c_n)$, $H(Y,\tau) = (h_1(y_1,\tau_1), \ldots, h_n(y_n,\tau_n))$, and $\mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} = \{(C,H) : C \in \mathbb{C}(m) \text{ and } H \in \mathcal{H}(C)\}$. A cost sharing problem is a triple $(Q,C,H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$. Accordingly, a cost sharing rule is a mapping $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfying the budget balance condition:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i \left(Q, C, H \right) = C \left(Q \right)$$

The vector $\xi(Q, C, H)$ is the list of cost shares for the problem (Q, C, H).

We assume that H is exogenous as is the case of Q. The choice of h_i may come from agent i, be imposed by the planner or be negotiated between all those concerned. The criteria leading to the adoption of a particular h_i may include technological considerations or preferences. For example, the different components of q_i may pertain to different technical characteristics of a facility and for technological reasons that only agent i knows, any change in q_i should be done according to a function h_i (not necessarily linear) supplied by the agent. Alternatively, h_i may be the expression of a preference by the agent. In the example given below, each agent has a two-component demand, gas in summer and gas in winter. If these demands are to be reduced, some agents may prefer a reduction of gas available in summer rather than a proportional reduction of both. Others may have different desiderata.

3 The Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule

In essence, it consists in first ordering individual demands according to their stand alone costs. Next, a first intermediate demand is constructed by reducing demands of agents 2 to n along the respective paths specified by the h_i , down to the points where their stand alone costs are the same as for agent 1 and the cost of this intermediate demand is shared equally among all agents. A second intermediate demand is constructed by reducing demands of agents 3 to n along the same paths down to the point where their stand alone costs are the same as for agent 2, etc., and the incremental cost of this intermediate demand as compared to the first one is shared equally among agents 2 to n.

Definition 2 (The Path Serial Rule) Given a problem $(Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$, suppose, without loss of generality, that agents are ranked according to their $c_i(q_i)$:

$$c_1(q_1) \le c_2(q_2) \le \ldots \le c_n(q_n)$$

Then, for each *i*, consider the *intermediate demand* $Q^i = (q_1^i, \ldots, q_n^i) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ defined by:

$$\begin{cases} q_j^i = q_j & \text{if } c_j(q_j) \le c_i(q_i) \\ q_j^i \in h_j(q_j, \mathbb{R}_+) \text{ and } c_j(q_j^i) = c_i(q_i) & \text{if } c_j(q_j) > c_i(q_i) \end{cases}$$

By definition of $\mathcal{H}(C)$, these intermediate demands are uniquely defined. Finally, the cost allocation of the *Path Serial Rule* is given by the following formula:

$$\xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H) = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \frac{C(Q^j) - C(Q^{j-1})}{n+1-j}, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$

Remark 3 The Radial Serial Rule ξ^{RS} of Koster et al. (1998) may be seen as the Path Serial Rule ξ^{PS} with the use of h_i^R as the scaling function for all i, and any pair $(Q, C) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m)$. In short, $\xi^{RS}(Q, C) = \xi^{PS}(Q, C, H^R)$. Both ξ^{PS} and ξ^{RS} reduce to the Axial Rule ξ^A of Sprumont (1998) when $M_i = \{i\} \forall i$ and all three reduce to the Moulin-Shenker rule in the context of the single private good. They are Serial Extensions of the original Serial Rule.

4 Monotonicity

An ethical condition that has received much attention in the literature on cost sharing is monotonicity of the cost shares with respect to own demands. The Path Serial Rule does not satisfy the original monotonicity condition in the general context but we show that it satisfies a weaker form of this condition, called Path Demand Monotonicity. We also examine the behavior of the cost shares with respect to others' demands.

Definition 3 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies *Demand Monotonicity* (DM) if for two problems (Q, C, H) and $(Q', C, H') \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$, and any $i \in N$ such that $q_i \leq q'_i$ and $q_j = q'_j \forall j \in N \setminus \{i\}$, we have $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_i(Q', C, H')$.

(DM) says that an agent should expect to pay more if he increases his demand. This does not imply that the other agents will not pay more as we shall see. Sprumont (1998) proves that the Axial Rule ξ^A satisfies (DM) in the context where $M_i = \{i\} \forall i$. We show in Téjédo and Truchon (2000) that this is not the case of the Radial Serial Rule ξ^{RS} even in the homogeneous context. A fortiori, the Path Serial Rule ξ^{PS} does not satisfy (DM) in the general context. This motivates the next definition.

Definition 4 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies *Path Demand* Monotonicity (PDM) if for two problems (Q, C, H) and $(Q', C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$, for any $i \in N$ such that $q_i \in h_i(q'_i, \mathbb{R}_+)$, $q_i \leq q'_i$, and $q_j = q'_j \forall j \in N \setminus \{i\}$, we have $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_i(Q', C, H)$.

Ideally if the cost function satisfies decreasing incremental cost (DIC), then the cost share of an agent i should not increase when the demand of another agent k increases and it should not decrease when the cost function satisfies increasing incremental cost (IIC). We shall show that this is the case with the Path Serial Rule.

Definition 5 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies *Path Cross Monotonicity* (PCM) if for two problems (Q, C, H) and $(Q', C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ such that $q_k \in h_k(q'_k, \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $q_k \leq q'_k$ for some k and $q_j = q'_j \forall j \neq k$, we have:

- $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \ge \xi_i(Q', C, H) \ \forall i \in N/\{k\}$ whenever C is a DIC cost function;
- $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_i(Q', C, H) \ \forall i \in N/\{k\}$ whenever C is an IIC cost function,

i.e. ξ_i is a non-decreasing function along the path $h_k(q_k, \mathbb{R}_+)$.

Theorem 1 ξ^{PS} satisfies (PDM) and (PCM).

The proof is given in subsection 7.2. Of course, we should expect the relation between $\xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H)$ and $\xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H)$ to hold when more than one component of Q is increased to give Q'. This is recorded in the following corollary.

Corollary 1 Consider two problems (Q, C, H) and $(Q', C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ such that $\exists i \in N : \forall j \neq i : q_j \in h_j(q'_j, \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $q_j \leq q'_j$. Then:

- $\xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H) \ge \xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H)$ whenever C is a DIC cost function;
- $\xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H)$ whenever C is an IIC cost function.

The proof is given in subsection 7.3.

5 Bounds for Cost Shares

If they are free to decide, agents will choose to participate in a cost sharing problem only if they are guaranteed that their share of the cost will not be larger than their stand alone cost. This is a condition that Moulin and Shenker (1992) calls *participation*. We show that the Path Serial Rule meets this condition whenever C satisfies increasing benefit from cooperation, defined in Remark 2. Actually, under (DIC), the Path Serial Rule satisfies a stronger property. Any coalition of agents is guaranteed that their total share of the cost will not be larger than their stand alone cost as a coalition, a condition called the *Stand Alone Test* by Faulhaber (1975) and similar to the core property in cooperative game theory. We show that these properties, established by Moulin (1996) in the single private good context, extend to the general context of this paper under increasing benefit from cooperation or diminishing incremental cost.

If the cost function satisfies (IIC) instead of (DIC), we should not expect all agents to be willing to cooperate since at least one of them will have to pay more than its stand alone cost. However, there may be circumstances where agents are forced to cooperate even if the cost function satisfies (IIC). In such a case, we could impose that each agent or coalition pays at least its stand alone cost, the reverse of the previous conditions.¹ The Path Serial rule satisfies these reverse conditions.

Definition 6 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies *Participation* if $\forall (Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$:

- $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \leq c_i(q_i) \ \forall i \in N$ whenever C satisfies increasing benefit from cooperation;
- $\xi_i(Q, C, H) \ge c_i(q_i) \quad \forall i \in N$ whenever C satisfies decreasing benefit from cooperation.

Theorem 2 The Path Serial Rule ξ^{PS} satisfies Participation.

The proof is given in subsection 7.4.

Definition 7 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies the *Stand Alone Test* (SAT) if $\forall (Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$:

- $\sum_{i \in S} \xi_i(Q, C, H) \leq C(Q^S)$ for any subset $S \subset N$ whenever C is a DIC cost function;
- $\sum_{i \in S} \xi_i(Q, C, H) \ge C(Q^S)$ for any subset $S \subset N$ whenever C is an IIC cost function.

Theorem 3 Any cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ that satisfies (PCM) also meets the Stand Alone Test (SAT).

¹This can be seen as a fairness condition, to which Moulin and Shenker (1992) gave the name of Stand Alone Test. However, Faulhaber (1975), Moulin (1996), and others reserve this name for the condition defined above. In this paper, we cover both conditions under the same name.

The proof is given in subsection 7.5. The following corollary is immediate since ξ^{PS} satisfies (PCM).

Corollary 2 The Path Serial Rule ξ^{PS} satisfies (SAT).

Remark 4 Participation follows obviously from (SAT). However, we have been able to establish this property under the weaker *increasing benefit from cooperation*.

The other question of interest in the case of an IIC cost function is whether there is a reasonable upper bound on the contribution of each agent. In order to introduce such a bound, we first define for each *i* an equal cost demand $\tilde{Q}^i \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ by scaling the demands up or down so as to satisfy:

$$q_{j} \in h_{j}\left(\tilde{q}_{j}^{i}, \mathbb{R}_{+}\right) \text{ and } c_{j}\left(\tilde{q}_{j}^{i}\right) = c_{i}\left(q_{i}\right) \text{ if } c_{j}\left(q_{j}\right) < c_{i}\left(q_{i}\right)$$
$$\tilde{q}_{j}^{i} \in h_{j}\left(q_{j}, \mathbb{R}_{+}\right) \text{ and } c_{j}\left(\tilde{q}_{j}^{i}\right) = c_{i}\left(q_{i}\right) \text{ if } c_{j}\left(q_{j}\right) \geq c_{i}\left(q_{i}\right)$$

We then have the following condition.

Definition 8 A cost sharing rule $\xi : \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ satisfies the *Equal Cost Bound* (ECB) for a problem $(Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ if:

$$\xi_i(Q, C, H) \le \frac{C\left(\tilde{Q}^i\right)}{n} \ \forall i \in N$$

For a homogeneous problem, $C(\tilde{Q}^i) = c(nq_i)$. Thus, the condition generalizes the Unanimity Bound of Moulin and Shenker (1992). Clearly, ξ^{PS} satisfies (ECB) for DIC cost functions. We shall now show that this bound is also satisfied for IIC cost functions.

Theorem 4 The Path Serial Rule ξ^{PS} satisfies (ECB) for any class of problems $(Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ such that C is an IIC cost function.

Proof. Since $\tilde{q}_j^i \ge q_j^i = q_j \; \forall j < i \text{ and } \tilde{q}_j^i = q_j^i \; \forall j \ge i$, applying Corollary 1, we have:

$$\xi_i^{PS}\left(Q,C,H\right) = \xi_i^{PS}\left(Q^i,C,H\right) \le \xi_i^{PS}\left(\tilde{Q}^i,C,H\right) = \frac{C\left(\tilde{Q}^i\right)}{n} \; \forall i \in N$$

6 Conclusion

In Téjédo and Truchon (2002), we have have defined the Path Serial Cost Sharing Rule to deal with problems where agents request several commodities that can be public, private, or specific to some of them and where aggregation may be very general. As it names implies, it consists in scaling down the demands along paths, which are part of the specification of the problem, in order to construct the intermediate demands that are at the root of serial cost sharing. Put differently, the Path Serial Rule consists in applying the original Serial Cost Sharing Rule to a projection of each demand onto the specified path. The rule is characterized by the Equal Treatment of Equivalents (demands) and the Path Serial Principle, and it satisfies other properties such as Independence of Null Agents, Rank Independence of Irrelevant Agents, and Ordinality.

In the present paper, we have extended the analysis of this rule by examining how the cost share of an agent varies with respect to its own demand and the one of other agents. We have shown that the Path Serial Rule satisfies Path Demand Monotonicity and Path Cross Monotonicity. The first says that the cost share of an agent does not decrease if the demand of this agent increases along the path specified with its demand. The second prescribes that under increasing returns, the cost share of an agent must not increase if some other agent increases its demand along the path specified with its demand and that it must not decrease under decreasing returns.

We have also provided bounds for cost shares under increasing and decreasing returns. More precisely, under increasing returns, no agent and no subset of agents pay more than their stand alone cost. Under decreasing returns, no agent and no subset of agents pay less than their stand alone cost. These results generalize similar results of Moulin and Shenker (1994) and Moulin (1996) for the original Serial Rule.

7 Proofs

7.1 Proof of Lemma 1

1. Applying (1) iteratively to the triples $(Y + Z^{\{1,\dots,i-1\}}, Y' + Z^{\{1,\dots,i-1\}}, Z)$ and the pair $(i, i), i = 1, \dots, n$, with $Z^{\emptyset} = 0$, to get

$$C\left(Y + Z^{\{1,\dots,i\}}\right) - C\left(Y + Z^{\{1,\dots,i-1\}}\right) \ge C\left(Y' + Z^{\{1,\dots,i\}}\right) - C\left(Y' + Z^{\{1,\dots,i-1\}}\right)$$

and summing member-wise over i yields (3).

2. Consider any increasing sequence $S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_{\#I(Z)}$ of proper subsets of I(Z) such that h belongs only to $S_{\#I(Z)}$ and let $S_0 = \emptyset$. Note that j is the cardinality of S_j and that $Y + Z^{S_j} \leq Y', j = 1, \ldots, \#I(Z) - 1$. Thus, by (DIC), we can write

$$C(Y + Z^{S_j}) - C(Y + Z^{S_{j-1}}) \ge C(Y' + Z^{\{h\}}) - C(Y'), \ j = 1, \dots, \#I(Z)$$

with $Z^{S_0} = 0$. Summing over all $j \in I(Z)$ yields (4).

3. Consider the triples $\left(Y^{\{i\}}, Y'^{\{i\}}, \hat{Z}^i\right)$ where $\hat{Z}^i = \left(y_1, \ldots, y_{i-1}, 0, y'_{i+1}, \ldots, y'_n\right)$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then, using (3) on each triple, we get

$$C(y_{1}, \dots, y_{i-1}, y_{i}, y'_{i+1}, \dots, y'_{n}) - C(0, \dots, 0, y_{i}, 0, \dots, 0)$$

$$\geq C(y_{1}, \dots, y_{i-1}, y'_{i}, y'_{i+1}, \dots, y'_{n}) - C(0, \dots, 0, y'_{i}, 0, \dots, 0)$$

from which:

$$c_{i}(y_{i}') - c_{i}(y_{i}) = C(0, \dots, 0, y_{i}', 0, \dots, 0) - C(0, \dots, 0, y_{i}, 0, \dots, 0)$$

$$\geq C(y_{1}, \dots, y_{i-1}, y_{i}', y_{i+1}', \dots, y_{n}') - C(y_{1}, \dots, y_{i-1}, y_{i}, y_{i+1}', \dots, y_{n}')$$

Summing member-wise over i yields (5).

7.2 Proof of Theorem 1

Consider two problems (Q, C, H) and $(Q', C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ such that C is an IIC cost function and such that $q_k \in h_k(q'_k, \mathbb{R}_+)$, $q'_k \ge q_k$ and $q'_j = q_j \forall j \ne k$. We shall show that $\xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H) \le \xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H) \quad \forall i \in N$. We first suppose that $c_1(q_1) \le c_2(q_2) \le \ldots \le c_n(q_n)$ and $c_1(q'_1) \le c_2(q'_2) \le \ldots \le c_n(q'_n)$. We must distinguish four cases:

• i < k: In this case, $\xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H) = \xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H)$ by (PSP).

- i = k: In this case, $\xi_i^{PS}(Q', C, H) \ge \xi_i^{PS}(Q, C, H)$ since $C(Q'^i) \ge C(Q^i)$, $C(Q'^{i-1}) = C(Q^{i-1})$, and $\xi_j^{PS}(Q', C, H) = \xi_j^{PS}(Q, C, H) \quad \forall j < k$. This, together with the complement given below for the case where the ranks of the agents are changed when going from Q to Q', establishes (PDM).
- i = k + 1: Note that

$$\xi_{k+1}^{PS}(Q,C,H) = \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \xi_j^{PS}(Q,C,H) + \frac{C(Q^k) - C(Q^{k-1})}{n-k+1} + \frac{C(Q^{k+1}) - C(Q^k)}{n-k}$$

By (PSP), we know that $\xi_j^{PS}(Q', C, H) = \xi_j^{PS}(Q, C, H) \quad \forall j < k$. We shall show that

$$\frac{C(Q^{k}) - C(Q^{k-1})}{n-k+1} + \frac{C(Q^{k+1}) - C(Q^{k})}{n-k} \\
\leq \frac{C(Q'^{k}) - C(Q'^{k-1})}{n-k+1} + \frac{C(Q'^{k+1}) - C(Q'^{k})}{n-k},$$
(6)

which is equivalent to:

$$C(Q'^{k}) - C(Q^{k}) \le (n-k+1)(C(Q'^{k+1}) - C(Q^{k+1}))$$

This is a necessary condition for $\xi_{k+1}^{PS}(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_{k+1}^{PS}(Q', C, H)$ to hold.

Let $Y = Q^k$, $Y' = Q^{k+1}$, $Z = Q'^k - Q^k = (0, \ldots, 0, q'^k_k - q^k_k, \ldots, q'^k_n - q^k_n)$ and note that $Q'^{k+1} - Q^{k+1} = Z^{\{k\}}$. By definition, we have $c_j(q'^k_j) = c_k(q'_k)$ and $c_j(y_j) = c_j(q^k_j) = c_k(q_k) = c_k(y_k) \ \forall j \ge k$, from which $c_j(q'^k_j) - c_j(q^k_j) = c_k(q'_k) - c_k(q_k)$, i.e. $c_j(y_j + z_j) - c_j(y_j) = c_k(y_k + z_k) - c_k(y_k) \ \forall i, j \ge k$. Also note that $Y + Z = Q'^k \le Q'^{k+1} = Y' + Z^{\{k\}}$. Thus, (6) follows from part 2 of Lemma 1 and more precisely from (4) with the reversed inequality.

• i > k + 1: In this case, $Q'^i - Q^i = Q'^{i-1} - Q^{i-1}$, with $q'_k - q_k$ as the only positive component and $Q^{i-1} \leq Q^i$. Thus, $C(Q'^{i-1}) - C(Q^{i-1}) \leq C(Q'^i) - C(Q^i)$ by (IIC) or part 1 of Lemma 1, from which $C(Q^i) - C(Q^{i-1}) \leq C(Q'^i) - C(Q'^{i-1})$. Combining this last inequality with $\xi_j^{PS}(Q, C, H) \leq \xi_j^{PS}(Q', C, H) \ \forall j < i$ yields the result.

Next, suppose that the order of the stand alone costs is changed when going from Q to Q'. More precisely, suppose that $c_{k+p}(q'_{k+p}) < c_k(q'_k)$ for some $p \leq n-k$ and $c_k(q'_k) \leq c_{k+p+1}(q'_{k+p+1})$ whenever $k+p+1 \leq n$. Then, consider a sequence $Q = \hat{Q}^0, \hat{Q}^1, \ldots, \hat{Q}^p = Q'$, where $\hat{q}^{\ell}_j = q_j \ \forall j \neq k$ and where \hat{q}^{ℓ}_k is chosen so that $q_k \in h_k(\hat{q}^{\ell}_k, \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $c_k(\hat{q}^{\ell}_k) = c_{k+\ell}(q_{k+\ell}), \ \ell = 1, \ldots, p-1$. In other words, \hat{Q}^1 is obtained by increasing q_k to get a \hat{q}^1_k such that $q_k \in h_k(\hat{q}^1_k, \mathbb{R}_+)$ and $c(\hat{q}^1_k) = c_{k+1}(q_{k+1}).$

is obtained by further increasing q_k until its stand alone cost reaches $c_{k+2}(q_{k+2})$ and so on until \hat{Q}^p . Note that the ranks k and $k + \ell$ may be interchanged in each of the problems (\hat{Q}^{ℓ}, C, H) , $\ell = 1, \ldots, p$, without changing the cost shares for each problem under ξ^{PS} . Therefore, ξ_i^{PS} is non-decreasing along this sequence of problems and thus:

$$\xi_i^{PS}\left(Q,C,H\right) \le \xi_i^{PS}\left(\hat{Q}^1,C,H\right) \le \xi_i^{PS}\left(\hat{Q}^p,C,H\right) = \xi_i^{PS}\left(Q',C,H\right)$$

It suffices to change the sense of the relevant inequalities when C is a DIC cost function.

7.3 Proof of Corollary 1

Suppose that C is an IIC cost function and consider a sequence $Q = \hat{Q}^0, \hat{Q}^1, \dots, \hat{Q}^n = Q'$, in which each term \hat{Q}^k is defined by:

$$\hat{q}_j^k = \begin{cases} q'_j & \text{if } j \le k \\ q_j & \text{if } j > k \end{cases}$$

In plain word, each component is increased, if needed, one at a time along this sequence until Q' is reached. Then, by Theorem 1, ξ_i^{PS} is non-decreasing along the sequence of problems (\hat{Q}^k, C, H) , $k = 1, \ldots, n$, and thus:

$$\xi_i^{PS}\left(Q,C,H\right) \le \xi_i^{PS}\left(\hat{Q}^1,C,H\right) \le \dots \le \xi_i^{PS}\left(\hat{Q}^n,C,H\right) = \xi_i^{PS}\left(Q',C,H\right)$$

7.4 Proof of Theorem 2

Suppose that C satisfies increasing benefit from cooperation. We proceed by induction. With Y = 0 and $Y' = Q^1$ in (5), we get $C(Q^1) \le n c_1(q_1)$, from which:

$$\xi_1(Q, C, H) = \frac{C(Q^1)}{n} \le c_1(q_1)$$

Next, suppose that $\xi_{i-1} \leq c_{i-1}(q_{i-1})$ is true and note that:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j \left(q_j^i \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} c_j \left(q_j \right) + (n-i+1) c_i \left(q_i \right)$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j \left(q_j^{i-1} \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} c_j \left(q_j \right) + (n-i+1) c_{i-1} \left(q_{i-1} \right)$$

Then, (5) of Lemma 1 implies:

$$C(Q^{i}) - C(Q^{i-1}) \le (n-i+1)[c_{i}(q_{i}) - c_{i-1}(q_{i-1})]$$

Collecting all the above yields:

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{i}\left(Q,C,H\right) &= \xi_{i-1}\left(Q,C,H\right) + \frac{C\left(Q^{i}\right) - C\left(Q^{i-1}\right)}{n-i+1} \\ &\leq c_{i-1}\left(q_{i-1}\right) + \frac{C\left(Q^{i}\right) - C\left(Q^{i-1}\right)}{n-i+1} \\ &\leq c_{i}\left(q_{i}\right) \end{aligned}$$

It suffice to reverse all inequalities when C satisfies decreasing benefit from cooperation.

7.5 Proof of Theorem 3

Consider a cost sharing rule ξ satisfying (PCM), a problem $(Q, C, H) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+ \times \mathbb{C}(m) \times \mathcal{H}(C)$ where C is a DIC cost function, and any proper subset $S \subset N$. Let \tilde{Q} be the profile of demands obtained by substituting $h_i(q_i, 0)$ to q_i in Q for all $i \notin S$. By definition of $\mathcal{H}(C)$, we have $c_i(h_i(q_i, 0)) = 0$ and by definition of $\mathbb{C}(m)$, $C\left(\tilde{Q}^{N\setminus S}\right) = 0$. Since $\tilde{Q}_S^{N\setminus S} \leq \tilde{Q}_S$, using (PCM), more precisely Corollary 1, we get $\xi_i(\tilde{Q}, C, H) \leq \xi_i(\tilde{Q}^{N\setminus S}, C, H) = 0 \ \forall i \notin S$, from which $\xi_i(\tilde{Q}, C, H) = 0 \ \forall i \notin S$. Thus,

$$\sum_{i \in S} \xi_i \left(\tilde{Q}, C, H \right) = \sum_{i \in N} \xi_i \left(\tilde{Q}, C, H \right) = C \left(\tilde{Q} \right) = C \left(Q^S \right)$$

where the last equality follows from the definition of $\mathbb{C}(m)$. Using the above, (PCM), and the fact that $\tilde{Q}_{N\setminus S} \leq Q_{N\setminus S}$, we finally get:

$$\sum_{i \in S} \xi_i \left(Q, C, H \right) \le \sum_{i \in S} \xi_i \left(\tilde{Q}, C, H \right) = C \left(Q^S \right)$$

The proof is similar when C is an IIC cost function.

References

- Faulhaber, G. (1975), "Cross Subsidization: Pricing in Public Enterprises," American Economic Review, 65, 966-977.
- [2] Koster M., Tijs S., and Borm P. (1998), "Serial Cost Sharing Methods for Multicommodity Situations," *Mathematical Social Science*, 36, 229-242.
- [3] Moulin H. and Shenker S. (1992), "Serial Cost Sharing," Econometrica, 60, 1009-1037.
- [4] Moulin H. and Shenker S. (1994), "Average Cost Pricing versus Serial Cost Sharing: An Axiomatic Comparison," *Journal of Economic Theory*, 64, 178-201.
- [5] Moulin H. (1996), "Cost Sharing under Increasing Returns: A Comparison of Simple Mechanisms," *Games And Economic Behavior*, **13**, 225-251.
- [6] Shenker S. (1990), "Making Greed Work in Networks: A Game-Theoretic Analysis of Gateway Service Disciplines," *Mimeo*, Xerox Research Center, Palo Alto.
- [7] Sprumont Y. (1998), "Ordinal Cost Sharing," Journal of Economic Theory, 81, 126-162.
- [8] Téjédo C. and Truchon M. (2000), "The Radial Serial Cost Sharing Rule with General Aggregation", Cahier de recherche 0007, Département d'économique, Université Laval, June 2000.
- [9] Téjédo C. and Truchon M. (2002), "Serial Cost Sharing in Multidimensional Contexts," Mathematical Social Science, to appear.

Liste des publications au CIRANO*

Série Scientifique / Scientific Series (ISSN 1198-8177)

- 2002s-43 Monotonicity and Bounds for Cost Shares under the Path Serial Rule / Michel Truchon et Cyril Téjédo
- 2002s-42 Maximal Decompositions of Cost Games into Specific and Joint Costs / Michel Moreaux et Michel Truchon
- 2002s-41 Maximum Likelihood and the Bootstrap for Nonlinear Dynamic Models / Sílvia Gonçalves, Halbert White
- 2002s-40 Selective Penalization Of Polluters: An Inf-Convolution Approach / Ngo Van Long et Antoine Soubeyran
- 2002s-39 On the Mediational Role of Feelings of Self-Determination in the Workplace: Further Evidence and Generalization / Marc R. Blais et Nathalie M. Brière
- 2002s-38 The Interaction Between Global Task Motivation and the Motivational Function of Events on Self-Regulation: Is Sauce for the Goose, Sauce for the Gander? / Marc R. Blais et Ursula Hess
- 2002s-37 Static Versus Dynamic Structural Models of Depression: The Case of the CES-D / Andrea S. Riddle, Marc R. Blais et Ursula Hess
- 2002s-36 A Multi-Group Investigation of the CES-D's Measurement Structure Across Adolescents, Young Adults and Middle-Aged Adults / Andrea S. Riddle, Marc R. Blais et Ursula Hess
- 2002s-35 Comparative Advantage, Learning, and Sectoral Wage Determination / Robert Gibbons, Lawrence F. Katz, Thomas Lemieux et Daniel Parent
- 2002s-34 European Economic Integration and the Labour Compact, 1850-1913 / Michael Huberman et Wayne Lewchuk
- 2002s-33 Which Volatility Model for Option Valuation? / Peter Christoffersen et Kris Jacobs
- 2002s-32 Production Technology, Information Technology, and Vertical Integration under Asymmetric Information / Gamal Atallah
- 2002s-31 Dynamique Motivationnelle de l'Épuisement et du Bien-être chez des Enseignants Africains / Manon Levesque, Marc R. Blais, Ursula Hess
- 2002s-30 Motivation, Comportements Organisationnels Discrétionnaires et Bien-être en Milieu Africain : Quand le Devoir Oblige / Manon Levesque, Marc R. Blais et Ursula Hess
- 2002s-29 Tax Incentives and Fertility in Canada: Permanent vs. Transitory Effects / Daniel Parent et Ling Wang
- 2002s-28 The Causal Effect of High School Employment on Educational Attainment in Canada / Daniel Parent
- 2002s-27 Employer-Supported Training in Canada and Its Impact on Mobility and Wages / Daniel Parent

^{*} Consultez la liste complète des publications du CIRANO et les publications elles-mêmes sur notre site Internet :

- 2002s-26 Restructuring and Economic Performance: The Experience of the Tunisian Economy / Sofiane Ghali and Pierre Mohnen
- 2002s-25 What Type of Enterprise Forges Close Links With Universities and Government Labs? Evidence From CIS 2 / Pierre Mohnen et Cathy Hoareau
- 2002s-24 Environmental Performance of Canadian Pulp and Paper Plants : Why Some Do Well and Others Do Not ? / Julie Doonan, Paul Lanoie et Benoit Laplante
- 2002s-23 A Rule-driven Approach for Defining the Behavior of Negotiating Software Agents / Morad Benyoucef, Hakim Alj, Kim Levy et Rudolf K. Keller
- 2002s-22 Occupational Gender Segregation and Women's Wages in Canada: An Historical Perspective / Nicole M. Fortin et Michael Huberman
- 2002s-21 Information Content of Volatility Forecasts at Medium-term Horizons / John W. Galbraith et Turgut Kisinbay
- 2002s-20 Earnings Dispersion, Risk Aversion and Education / Christian Belzil et Jörgen Hansen
- 2002s-19 Unobserved Ability and the Return to Schooling / Christian Belzil et Jörgen Hansen
- 2002s-18 Auditing Policies and Information Systems in Principal-Agent Analysis / Marie-Cécile Fagart et Bernard Sinclair-Desgagné
- 2002s-17 The Choice of Instruments for Environmental Policy: Liability or Regulation? / Marcel Boyer, Donatella Porrini
- 2002s-16 Asymmetric Information and Product Differentiation / Marcel Boyer, Philippe Mahenc et Michel Moreaux
- 2002s-15 Entry Preventing Locations Under Incomplete Information / Marcel Boyer, Philippe Mahenc et Michel Moreaux
- 2002s-14 On the Relationship Between Financial Status and Investment in Technological Flexibility / Marcel Boyer, Armel Jacques et Michel Moreaux
- 2002s-13 Modeling the Choice Between Regulation and Liability in Terms of Social Welfare / Marcel Boyer et Donatella Porrini
- 2002s-12 Observation, Flexibilité et Structures Technologiques des Industries / Marcel Boyer, Armel Jacques et Michel Moreaux
- 2002s-11 Idiosyncratic Consumption Risk and the Cross-Section of Asset Returns / Kris Jacobs et Kevin Q. Wang
- 2002s-10 The Demand for the Arts / Louis Lévy-Garboua et Claude Montmarquette
- 2002s-09 Relative Wealth, Status Seeking, and Catching Up / Ngo Van Long, Koji Shimomura
- 2002s-08 The Rate of Risk Aversion May Be Lower Than You Think / Kris Jacobs
- 2002s-07 A Structural Analysis of the Correlated Random Coefficient Wage Regression Model / Christian Belzil et Jörgen Hansen
- 2002s-06 Information Asymmetry, Insurance, and the Decision to Hospitalize / Åke Blomqvist et Pierre Thomas Léger
- 2002s-05 Coping with Stressful Decisions: Individual Differences, Appraisals and Choice / Ann-Renée Blais
- 2002s-04 A New Proof Of The Maximum Principle / Ngo Van Long et Koji Shimomura